1951

Wasatch Chemical Co. v. L. G. Leon : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent, a share-crop farmer, on or about the ¹²⁷last of April, 1949 (R 178: L 20) planted a tract of leased land to onions. The land is situated (R 112: L 14-19) approximately one and one fourth miles west

of the intersection of 9000 South and Redwood road in Salt Lake County, Utah.

On April 23rd, 1949, on account of an advanced growth of weeds (R 370: L 10-13 covering the land where the respondent had planted his onion seed, (R 101: L 2-3) the respondent contacted the appellant, (R 126: L 23 etc.), a Utah corporation engaged, among other things, with supplying the agriculture industry with various kinds of weedicides (R 353: L 26-29.)

At the plant of the appellant, the respondent approached Dr. Arvill L. Stark, a trained and experienced horticulturist and plant physiologist (R 352-53 et seq.), who was retained by the appellant for the specific purpose of agriculture research and the dissemination of information pertaining to the agricultural industry (R 352: (L 16), and the respondent stated to Dr. Stark at that time a situation that he termed "a problem of weeds in his onions" (R 362:19-20). The advisability of using one certain weedicide, Synox was discussed and rejected (R 362-63). Thereupon, the feasibility of using another type of weedicide, Wasco General Oil was discussed. During the discussion of using the General Oil, Dr. Stark questioned the respondent, in particular, as to whether the onions had appeared out of the ground, and the respondent told Dr. Stark that they had not. (R 364-66). Having been assured by the respondent, that the onions had not emerged from the ground, Dr. Stark suggested that the respondent use General Oil; and, to

totally destroy the weeds, recommended that it be applied at the rate of 50 gallons per acre (R 380:L 17). Dr. Stark read through the instructions for the use of the general oil weedicide from a "Weed Control Bulletin" (Plaintiff's exhibit "B") (R 364:L 5 et seq).

Following the discussion with Dr. Stark, the respondent proceeded to the appellant's sales department and purchased a lesser amount of the general oil than Dr. Stark had recommended to use according to the facts that the respondent had stated to Dr. Stark. The quantity of the oil the respondent purchased was approximately sufficient to cover his onion crop at the rate of 25 gallons per acre (R 130:L 19-22). Three days after the oil was purchased from the appellant, the respondent applied it to the crop of onions. On the day that the oil was applied to the onion crop, onions had emerged from the ground to a height of one and one half inches high (R 101:L 15). To apply the oil after the onions had emerged, or began to emerge within two days was against the instructions the respondent had received (Plaintiff's Exhibit "B," page 11) (R 364: L 5 et seq). However, the reduced amount of the oil that was sprayed on the onion crop did not destroy either the weeds or the onions (R 302: L 20-30). The onions, not being destroyed by the light application of the oil, were cared for (R 245:L 18 et seq) and matured until about July 10, 1949, at which time they were abandoned (R 149: L 11). At the date of abandonment there were approximately a 50%

crop of the onions (R 246: L 10) that had reached a height of (R 262: L 8) approximately six inches high. Following the purchase and application of the oil weedicide on April 26th, 1949, the defendant continued to call at the place of business of the appellant and make other purchases, even more of the weedicide oil (Plaintiff's Exhibit "J": p. 16: L 24-26). During May, 1949, he made purchases on the 16th, 19th, 23rd and 28th; during August, 1949, he made purchases on the 4th and 8th (Exhibit "A", attached to complaint: R 9-C), and during approximately three months of time while his onions were growing he made no complaint to the appellant (R 266: L 28-30), although at regular intervals he had made payments on his accounts and other purchases (Plaintiff's Exhibit "D," "E," "F" and "G," and had ample opportunity to do so. On January 4th, 1950, appellant's attorney, wrote the respondent and made demand for the balance of his account, and invited him to consult with either himself or the appellant (Plaintiff's Exhibit "H"). Again on April 17th, 1950, appellant's attorney wrote the respondent and made demand for the balance due on his account, and threatened legal action for collection, but, still, the respondent made no complaint against the appellant. On June 19th, 1950, the appellant filed suit (R 9-"B") against the respondent for the balance due on his account, and the same time made garnishment, on the wages of the respondent, on Salt Lake County Auditor (R 8), where the respondent was working for a very substantial wage

as an electrician (R 265: L 5-26). For free advice (R 273: L 8-12) the respondent went to the Salt Lake County Attorney's office, where Ralph McBroom, RESPONDENT'S counsel, was employed (R 272:L 13 et seq). Then, the appellant heard from the respondent for the first time concerning the account by way of a Counter-Claim in damages (R 4) filed in answer to the complaint, admitted owing the balance due, but alleged an express and implied warranty that the general weedicide oil would kill the weeds in the respondent's onion patch and leave the onions unharmed. The appellant's reply (R 13) to the counter-claim denied the allegations therein, and further alleged the proximate cause of his damage, if any, was failure to use due care. The issues were tried to a jury and a verdict returned in damages in favor of the respondent and against the appellant (R 23). The appellant made its motion to set aside the verdict (R 69), which was denied (R 70), and the appellant filed notice of appeal to this court (R 71).

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT NO. I, THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY ON THE GROUNDS THAT AT THE TIME WEEDICIDE GENERAL OIL WAS APPLIED TO RESPONDANT'S ONION CROP, ~~PLIED TO RESPONDENT'S ONION CROP,~~ *that there was no harm beneath the* SURFACE OF THE GROUND NOT EMERGED.

POINT NO. II, THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANT IS LIABLE ON THE THEORY OF BREACH OF EXPRESS AND IMPLIED WARRANTY AS TO THE METHOD OF APPLICATIONS AS DISTINGUISHED FROM THE GENERAL OIL ITSELF.

POINT III, THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AUTHORITY HAD BEEN GIVEN TO MAKE ANY STATEMENTS AS TO WARRANTIES: THAT SUCH STATEMENTS AS ARE RELIED ON BY THE RESPONDENT ARE UNUSUAL AND NOT CUSTOMARY.

POINT IV, THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE INFERENCE THAT RESPONDENT'S LOSS, IF ANY, WAS THE PROXIMATE RESULT OF THE USE OF WASCO GENERAL OIL WEEDICIDE.

POINT V, THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT, OF EXCESSIVE DAMAGES APPEARING TO HAVE BEEN GIVEN UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF PASSION AND PREJUDICE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

In the Court's Instructions Nos. 10 and 12-B (R 56 and 58) that for the jury to bring a verdict in favor of the respondent, they must be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence that the Wasco General Oil, which the appellant sold to the respondent, destroyed onions *that were beneath the surface of the ground or had not emerged*. For the jury to comply with this instruction, it must rely upon evidence that when the Wasco General Oil was applied to the onion crop there were onions beneath the surface of the soil not yet emerged which the oil destroyed. This they could not do; for reason, all the testimony in the case is to the effect that the onions had emerged or were emerging on the day the oil was applied.

On April 23, 1949, the day the respondent contacted the appellant (R 125:L 12), he was asked the question: "Are your onions up yet?" To which he replied, "No, they aren't. THEY WON'T BE UP FOR TWO OR THREE DAYS." The exact time the respondent applied the oil to the onion crop he was vague and indefinite about (R 131:L 6, 7). However, another witness definitely fixed the day as April 26, 1949 (R 369:L 11 et seq). By the respondent's own calculated estimation, he stated his onions would be emerged from the ground on the 25th or 26th of April. That they emerged as he estimated they would be, we quote (Plf's Exhibit J; L 20):

Q. At the time you were spraying, were there any onions out of the ground?

A. There were one here and there, yes.

Further testimony of another witness that the onions were out of the ground we quote (R 373:L 21, 29) :

Q. When you saw that the onions had already emerged from the ground, at the time he was spraying them, when you were out there on the 25th or 26th, which ever it was, of April, 1949, did you tell him that the onion crop, or that portion of the onion crop, at least, that had emerged from the soil would be killed by the oil he was putting on?

A. Yes, I also said that he was spraying plenty late.

Q. 'Plenty late,' what did you mean by that?

A. The onions had come up further than they should.

Further evidence proving the fact the onions were up on the day they were sprayed, we quote a witness of the respondent, Henry Schmidt (R 90:L 12) :

Q. * * * you state that you observed and pointed out to Dr. Stark, that there were some onions sticking up, is that right?

A. Right.

Q. Will you state approximately how many, as you observed, there were sticking up as you went across the field?

A. It couldn't have been many then. It can't, it wouldn't have averaged any more than one per foot.

Q. How far were they sticking up, would you say relatively?

A. Well, they just straightened out.

Q. And after they straightened out, how high were they in terms of inches? (R 101:L 13-15)

A. I would say an inch and a fourth, an inch and a half.

The Wasco general oil the respondent was using to spray his onion crop with, was a general weed killer, very commonly used among farmers throughout the States of Utah and California (R 329:L 18 et seq). The respondent had received verbal instructions and directions as to its proper use (R 373:L 11-18); also, he was given a "Weed Control With Chemicals" pamphlet (Plf's Exhibit "B"), which instructions and pamphlet the respondent admitted having received (Plf's Exhibit J; p 11:L 11). The Weed Control pamphlet (Plf's Exhibit "B": p 11) states specifically that two days before emergence of the seedlings from the ground is the very latest one can wait before applying the general oil weedicide, and even then some damage can be expected.

Regardless of this instruction the respondent had allowed his days of grace to expire before applying the oil to his onions—on the day he purchased the oil, he yet had time assuming his statement true that the onions would not be up for two or three days; he stated four hours was all the time needed to put it on (Plf's Exhibit J:L 20-21). Nevertheless, he applied the oil seeing the onions had emerged, and knowing that the oil would kill them, we quote (Plf's Exhibit J:18, 19):

Q. Were you aware this type of oil would kill the tops of plant life?

A. Of all tops, yes.

Further with reference to the emergence of his onion seedlings at the time he sprayed them with General Oil Weedicide, the respondent testified (R 142:L 3 et seq):

Q. Will you describe the condition of your crop relative to its maturity at the time you sprayed * * *?

A. The onions come up to about three inches high. They were yellow and burned.

Q. That isn't what I am asking you. Will you strike that part? At the time when you sprayed these onions, will you state what you observed in reference to the emergence of the onions at the time of spraying?

A. At the time of spraying there was one onion here and there that just barely protruded at the top of the soil.

A. And approximately how many would you say over the area?

A. I would say there was maybe one out of ten, or one out of twenty.

Q. And those onions were barely protruding?

A. That is correct.

Q. Will you state how far above the ground you observed them protruding?

A. They were barely sticking through. It couldn't be over 1/16th of an inch at most.

The foregoing evidence is conclusive that the onions were emerged and the respondent knew his onions were

emerged at the very time he sprayed them.

Having the positive, uncontradicted evidence that the respondent's onions were actually emerged and up to a height of one-half inch, on the day that he sprayed them, immediately poses the question of how much of the crop had emerged, or was within two days of emerging on the date of spraying. This question can be answered with definite certainty by knowing the uniformity of their growth to the time of their emergence. From the testimony of the respondent we quote (R 142; 1 25 et seq):

Q. And prior to the time you sprayed these onions, had you checked the germination of your seed?

A. That is right.

Q. And will you state in what condition you found the plants?

A. The plants were in perfect condition. They were healthy.

Q. Had you occasion to go over the field and check the germination through the field?

A. That is right.

Q. And will you describe the condition of the germination relative to its uniformity?

A. It couldn't have been more uniform, as far as I was concerned.

Q. And by that you mean that the plants that you had had germinated uniformly throughout?

A. That is right.

The respondent and his witnesses testified there was a "uniform germination of seeds" (R 143:L 7-9), "mild, mellow and moist soil" (R 90:L 10-11), "without crust" (R 90:L 11). The mean temperature for the month of April, 1949, was 53.6 degrees; plus 5.7 degrees above normal (Plf's Exhibit "C"). With onion seed existing in such a perfect state for growing, can there be any question in the mind of anyone that the respondent's onion seedlings were developing rapidly and excellently, and under such ideal growing conditions as was said to exist by the witnesses. Could there have possibly been but slight variation in their emergence from the soil. If some of the onions had emerged from the soil and had reached a height of one and a quarter to one and a half inches high (R 101:L 13-15), then all the rest of the respondent's onion crop, with reference to emerging from the soil, ranged all the way from an inch and a half high back to onions within the prohibited grace limit of applying the oil at two days before emerging. The very fact that the respondent deliberately destroyed his entire onion crop, with but a few exceptions, as he claims, bears out the fact that the onions all had emerged, or were within the prohibited two days period of emerging when he applied the oil (R 367:L 5-7).

There is other uncontradicted evidence in the record that conclusively proves the respondent's onions were emerged on April 26th, the day he applied the oil (R 369:L 11-12).

The respondent testified (R 114:L 20-21) that he

planted his onion seed the first of April. He said the seed-bed was in perfect condition (R 120:L 9). The soil was light, sandy loam (R 120:L 19), with plenty of moisture, good mulch and very fine (R 120:L 20). Respondent's partner in the undertaking said he prepared the land, and it was in perfect condition for planting (R 83: L 25-27). He described it as fine, mellow and perfect moisture (R 90:L 8-11), and that it was the best piece of land on the farm, especially reserved for growing onions (R 97:L 24-25), and that it did not crust (R 99: L 17-23). The weather during April, 1949, was settled and it did not storm (R 180:L 10, 11); nevertheless, there was plenty of moisture in the soil (R 302:L 4). The weather mean of the month of April, 1949 was 53.6 degrees, 5.7 degrees above normal (Plf's Exhibit "C"). A witness for the respondent had occasion to pass over the respondent's onion field during the month of April, 1949 "every four to seven or eight days" (R 306:L 12 et seq), and out of curiosity he checked the germination of the seedlings in the field (R 301:L 28), and they were *just beneath the surface of the ground*, there was no crust, they had plenty of moisture, and the respondent testified that the germination couldn't have been more uniform (R 143:L 1, 9). From the foregoing evidence, it surely can be inferred that the onion seedlings emerged from the soil with the same uniformity with which they were growing just beneath the surface of the soil.

Further testimony shows the respondent planted his onion seed, on or about the first of April, 1949 (R

178:L 20), and the evidence shows that he sprayed them on the 26th day of April, 1949. The onions had been in the ground, on the day he sprayed them, just two days short of four weeks. In support of the appellant's contention that they were up on the day the respondent sprayed them, we quote the testimony of a farmer with years of practical experience (R 337:L 27 et seq):

Q. How many days after planting before the onion seedlings start emerging from the ground?

A. Well, that depends again upon weather conditions. If it is cold it takes that much longer, and if it is warm that much sooner. Anywhere from three to four weeks, depending on whether the weather is warm or cold.

As to the time it takes to emerge onion seedlings from the soil, we quote the respondent on the subject (R 180:L 22-26):

Q. How long does it take onions to come through after you plant them?

A. * * * I have seen them come up in two weeks, and come up in five weeks. That depends upon the warmth of the soil. * * *

The month of April, 1949, was above average 5.7 degrees, and according to the respondent's own stated experience the onion crop of 1949 should have emerged at an early date, rather than a later one.

All the evidence in this case tends to point up one fact: the soil, moisture, weather and seed germination

surrounding the respondent's onion growing operation were in a state of perfection. All the respondent's witnesses, as well as the respondent, himself, testified enthusiastically and were well satisfied with the state of perfection in which the respondent was farming his onion crop during April, 1949. Thus, it can be correctly concluded that the respondent's onion seedlings would have emerged from the soil in at least average, which would have been according to the foregoing testimony approximately three weeks. Whereas, the respondent's onion seed had been in the ground, under perfect conditions, on the date of applying the weedicide oil approximately twenty-six days, or just two days short of four weeks, without question, they were up, which is shown by other circumstances.

On April 23, 1949, the date the respondent purchased the weedicide oil from the appellant (R 126:L 23-30), his words and actions significantly indicate, like a barometer, the true circumstance and happenings of his onion crop. The respondent was an experienced onion grower (R 110:L 18), with a pre-knowledge of weedicide chemicals (Plf's Exhibit "J" p 11:L 12), yet, he was troubled. He did not, immediately upon his arrival at the appellant's place of business, contact the selling personnel; to the contrary, he sought out Dr. Arvil L. Stark (R 127:L 4), an experienced and qualified horticulturist and plant physiologist (R 353:L 4 et seq), whose specific employment with the appellant was research and dissemination of agriculture information

(R 353:L 13).

Upon approach to Dr. Stark, the respondent's opening statement was: "I have a weed problem in my onions (R 127:L 7 et seq) (R 362:L 19 et seq). The problem was discussed. A weedicide, by name Synox, was recommended, but the respondent declined to use it, because, he said: the weeds in his onion patch were too dense and advanced too far that he could not wait until his onions had reached a maturity in growth of two or three leaves before applying the Synox (R 363:L 29 et seq). The use of Synox considered not possible, the discussion, then, turned to the use of general oil weedicide (R 364: L 5-9). Still, the respondent hesitated and was undecided about using the general oil weedicide. Before deciding he held a telephone conversation with his partner, Henry Schmidt (R 87:L 17). Both the respondent (R 127:L 14, 15), and Henry Schmidt (R 101:L 25, 26) were told by Dr. Stark that the general oil weedicide would kill the plant life above the soil, but was harmless to anything that had not emerged from the soil. It was not until the respondent had discussed the use of the general oil weedicide at length with Dr. Stark and Henry Schmidt that the respondent decided to use the general oil on his onions. This point we wish to emphasize: *when the respondent finally did purchase the oil, he only purchased one-half the amount that Dr. Stark had recommended*, and applied it at the rate of 25 gallons per acre (R 130:L 13 et seq), instead of the recommended 50 gallons per acre (R 380: L 17), and by the

testimony of a reliable witness testifying for the respondent, Mr. Horace Palmer (R 302: L 20-30), did not destroy either the weeds, or the onions.

Perhaps the truth can be arrived at by discovering what the problem really was that the respondent declared to Dr. Stark existed with reference to his onion crop. His words and actions clearly indicate he was wrestling with a problem at the time he purchased the general weedicide oil.

Webster defines a problem as a perplexing question proposed for solution. Perhaps the quickest and simplest manner to discover what the respondent's problem in his onion crop was, is by using a process of elimination of what it wasn't.

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