1951

Wasatch Chemical Co. v. L. G. Leon : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The words contained in the pamphlet are neither in form or in substance an instruction or prohibition against use of the oil within two days prior to emergence. The words “ * * * considerable experimental evidence that spraying * * * before the crop comes through * * * is successful * * * ” and “less damage to the crop has resulted when applications are made about two days before the crop seedlings come through the soil,” are in the nature of general information concerning pre-emergence spraying. They are merely statements to the effect that in the past cer-

tain experiments had shown that under certain circumstances there would be little or no damage to a crop. They do not militate against or purport to prohibit the making of an express warranty without qualification to the effect that if part of the onions are up, the oil will not hurt the onions beneath the surface of the ground. The language of the pamphlet itself expressly contemplates that such a warranty may be made by words to the effect that detailed information on pre-emergence spraying will be given to those seeking it. Pursuant to those words the warranty was made by Dr. Arvil L. Stark, the man who wrote the pamphlet. Dr. Stark admitted that he made no qualification as to how near the surface of the ground the submerged onions were so long as they were not protruding from the soil, *supra* p. 21. The conclusion is inescapable, therefore, that whether or not respondent had knowledge of the wording of the pamphlet, his reliance on the express warranty was as a matter of law reasonable for the following reasons. 1. The wording of the pamphlet itself did not purport to prohibit or militate against the making of such a warranty. 2. The pamphlet itself contemplated that such a warranty might be made. 3. The warranty was made by the man who wrote the pamphlet. 4. The warranty was made without qualification as to how near the submerged onions were to the surface of the soil. 5. The man who wrote the pamphlet and made the warranty, by his own testimony, was present at the time of spraying and at that time told respondent that the oil would not hurt the onions beneath the

surface of the ground.

Appellant attacks the verdict of the jury on the ground that since there was no evidence that there were any onions beneath the surface of the ground that were not within two days of emergence and there was considerable evidence that the onions beneath the surface were within two days of emergence at the time of spraying, appellant's brief pp. 7-13, the verdict must be based on speculation as to the onions that were beneath the surface of the ground and not within two days of emergence, appellant's brief p. 29. This argument is a corollary of the argument set forth above to the effect that application of the oil by respondent within two days of emergence of the onions was a violation of appellant's instructions and prohibited. It is submitted that the scope of the warranty was that if part of the onions were up and the rest were beneath the surface of the ground, the oil would not hurt those onions beneath the surface, that that warranty was without qualification as to when the onions beneath the ground might emerge (R. 382), and that the language of the pamphlet did not prohibit the making of the warranty, *supra* pp. 20-23. Evidence that there were onions beneath the surface of the ground that would not emerge within two days after respondent sprayed the crop with the oil was not, therefore, necessary under the warranty. The decisions in *Parker v. Pettit*, 171 Or. 481, 138 P.2d 592, and *B. T. Moran v. First Security Corp.*, 82 U. 316, 24 P.2d 384, relative to conjectural damages, are not, therefore, applicable.

Point 2.

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THERE WERE ONIONS BENEATH THE SURFACE OF THE GROUND AT THE TIME RESPONDENT SPRAYED THE CROP TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

The court instructed the jury that for it to find for the respondent it must be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence that the Wasco General Oil destroyed onions of the respondent that were beneath the surface of the ground or had not yet emerged. (Instructions No. 10 and 12-B, R. 56, 58.) Appellant attacks the verdict of the jury on the ground that the evidence shows that there were no onions beneath the surface of the ground at the time respondent sprayed the crop since all of the onions must, under the conditions existing, have already emerged. (Appellant's brief pp. 5, 15, 27, 28, 32, 36.) Appellant reaches this result through a process of reasoning to the effect that since respondent told Dr. Stark that the onions would not be up for two or three days at the time of their conversation on April 23, 1949, and the oil was not applied until April 26, 1949, according to Dr. Stark, appellant's brief p. 7, and since onions ordinarily emerge within two to five weeks after planting and respondent planted his onions during the first week in April, *ibid.* pp. 13-15, and since the witnesses testified that the few onions that were protruding had reached a height of from one-sixteenth of an inch to one and one-half inches, *ibid.* pp. 25-28, 34, 35, and since the soil, moisture, weather and seed germination

were perfect, *ibid.* pp. 14-15; therefore, all of the onions must have emerged at the time respondent sprayed the crop and, therefore, there could have been no onions beneath the surface of the ground at that time, *ibid.* pp. 5, 15, 27, 28, 32, 36. Dr. Stark, Henry Schmidt, Paul Schmidt and respondent all testified that there was approximately one onion protruding per linear foot at the time of spraying (R. 380, 90, 278, 143). Relative to the quantity of onions that were beneath the surface of the ground at the time of spraying, the testimony was as follows. Respondent testified that approximately one out of ten or twenty of the onions were barely protruding from the surface of the ground, that he checked the germination of the crop at that time, that approximately eighteen to twenty plants had germinated per linear foot, that the crop was planted heavier than usual and that only one onion was protruding per linear foot (R. 142-145). Paul Schmidt testified that he observed the germination at the time, that there was a good germination of seed and a good stand of onions beneath the surface of the ground (R. 277, 278). Respondent, Henry Schmidt and Paul Schmidt all testified that, in response to a question at the time as to the effect of the oil on the onions, Dr. Stark stated that there were plenty of onions beneath the surface of the ground to make a good crop (R. 146, 90, 277). *Supra* pp. 9-11. It is submitted that all of the evidence in the record is to the effect that there was a good crop of onions beneath the surface of the ground at the time respondent applied the oil.

Point 3.

DR. STARK ACTED WITHIN THE SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AND HAD AUTHORITY TO MAKE THE WARRANTY.

The trial court instructed the jury that as a matter of law Dr. Stark at all times pertinent to the case was the agent and employee of appellant and was acting in the course and scope of his employment and that appellant was liable for damage caused respondent, if any, by virtue of Dr. Stark's acts, representations or promises, if any, Instruction No. 8 (R. 55), *supra* p. 5; and, that as a matter of law appellant, through Dr. Stark, warranted that Wasco General Oil, if sprayed on respondent's onion crop, as respondent sprayed it, would not harm the onions that had not emerged from the soil, Instruction No. 9 (R. 55), *supra* p. 21. Appellant attacks these instructions on the ground that the scope of Dr. Stark's employment was strictly limited to agricultural research and the giving of technical advice to farmers, did not include the sale or any connection with the sale of appellant's goods; and, that, therefore, the making of the warranty was not within his express or apparent authority. (Appellant's brief pp. 41-46.)

The question of the scope of Dr. Stark's employment and his authority to warrant is raised for the first time on this appeal. At the commencement of trial appellant stipulated that “* * * Dr. Arvil L. Stark, at all times material in this cause was the employee of the Wasatch Chemical Company, and was acting in the

course and scope of his employment." Appellant took no exception to the trial court's Instructions No. 8 and 9 (R. 406) and it did not request an instruction on either the scope of Dr. Stark's employment or his authority to warrant (R. 27-43). Since the only "actions" of Dr. Stark material to this cause were his statements at the time of sale of the oil in question and his statements and observations at the time of its application, it is submitted that the words of the stipulation, "acting in the course and scope of his employment" were intended to cover and did cover his statements and, therefore, the matter of his authority to make the warranty. Appellant can not, therefore, question either the scope of his employment or his authority to warrant at this time. Furthermore, the failure to except to the court's instructions as given or to request a conflicting instruction on the specific issue and take exception to its refusal precludes raising the question on appeal. *Hadra v. Utah National Bank*, 9 U. 412, 35 P. 508; *Morgan v. Child, Cole & Company*, 61 U. 448, 213 P. 177; *Straka v. Voyles*, 69 U. 123, 252 P. 677; *Kirchgestner v. Denver & R. G. W. R. Co.*, 225 P.2d 754; U. R. C. P., Rule 51.

If it were assumed that appellant is not bound by the stipulation and that he had preserved error in the instructions, it is submitted that the record amply supports the conclusion that as a matter of law the warranty was within Dr. Stark's express and apparent authority. Appellant reaches a contrary result by the following process. Since Dr. Stark's employment

was limited strictly to agricultural research and the giving of scientific information to farmers, appellant's brief p. 42, and since the evidence does not show that Dr. Stark ever sold or was connected with the selling of appellant's goods, *ibid.* pp. 42, 45, and in particular since the evidence does not show that Dr. Stark ever sold any goods to the respondent, *ibid.* pp. 42-43; the making of a statement by Dr. Stark in the nature of a warranty, would be unusual, *ibid.* p. 43, and, therefore, not within his apparent authority, *ibid.* p. 45. Without admitting the accuracy of this conclusion we submit that the only evidence in the record is to the contrary of the premises on which it is based. Dr. Stark is the Director of Agricultural Research and Information and an officer of the company (R. 353). That he is connected with the sale of the goods of the company, see testimony of Dr. Stark (R. 354, 359, 363), wherein in response to a series of questions about sales made by the company, he on each occasion testified that, "we sell them." On the occasion of purchase of the oil respondent went to the Wasatch Chemical Company on April 23, 1949 (R. 125), talked to Dr. Stark (R. 127), bought the oil pursuant to Dr. Stark's recommendation (R. 127) (Def. Ex. 3); and, since respondent was short of cash, Dr. Stark directed that the sale be made to him on credit (R. 219). Thus, Dr. Stark was connected with the actual sale of the oil in question to respondent. Appellant offered no affirmative evidence that the making of sales was outside of the scope of Dr. Stark's employment or that the making of warran-

ties was not within his authority. It was not an issue in the case.

Appellant attacks Instruction No. 9 on the ground that since the warranty was made prior to the sale by one who did not consummate the sale or receive the promise to pay, it was, therefore, too remote to form a part of the contract of sale of the oil, appellant's brief pp. 43, 45, and was, therefore, without effect. The evidence detailed in the preceding paragraph disposes of the question.

m.x. Appellant further attacks Instruction No. 9 on the ground that the assumed facts on which the warranty was based were that the onions had not emerged; while the actual facts at the time of spraying were that the onions had emerged. The warranty was to the effect that if part of the onions had emerged and the rest were beneath the surface of the ground at the time of spraying, the oil would not hurt those onions beneath the surface of the ground, *supra* pp. 20-23. The actual facts were that there was only one onion up per foot and there was a good crop of onions beneath the surface of the ground at the time of spraying, *supra* pp. 9-11.

Point 4.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT SUBJECT APPELLANT TO LIABILITY FOR A REPRESENTATION AS TO A METHOD OF APPLICATION. IT DID SUBJECT APPELLANT TO LIABILITY FOR AN AFFIRMATION OF FACT RELATING TO THE GOODS SOLD.

From the wording of Instruction No. 9 appellant argues that the court erred in imposing liability on

appellant for a representation as to the method of application of the oil by respondent rather than for a warranty as to the effect of the oil on the crop. (Appellants' brief pp. 37-40.) Appellant apparently reaches this result by the following process: that the words, " * * * if sprayed on defendant's onion crop, as defendant sprayed it, * * * " in the sentence, " * * * as a matter of law * * * plaintiff * * * warranted that Wasco General Oil, if sprayed on defendant's onion crop, as defendant sprayed it, * * * would not harm the onions that had not emerged from the soil, * * * " mean that appellant warranted the effect on the onions of the method of application of the oil by respondent rather than the effect on the onions of the oil itself; and that this instruction, therefore, imposed liability on appellant for a statement with reference to the effect of a suggested method or process of application and not for a statement with reference to the effect of the oil on onions that had not emerged from the surface of the ground; and, that since the law with reference to warranties in the sale of goods is not applicable to statements relative to a suggested method or process, respondent cannot recover under this instruction. We submit that: (1) the conclusion reached by appellant from the wording of the instruction is not correct; and (2) if it is assumed for the purpose of argument that appellant's conclusion is correct, the instruction did not prejudice appellant; and (3) appellant has not preserved error in the instruction on this issue.

1. The conclusion reached by appellant is not correct. Section 12 of the Uniform Sales Act defines an express warranty as, "any affirmation of fact or any promise by the seller relating to the goods * * *." Section 81-1-12, U.C.A., 1943. The words, "plaintiff * * * warranted that Wasco General Oil if sprayed on defendant's onion crop, as defendant sprayed it, * * *" in the sentence " * * * as a matter of law * * * plaintiff * * * warranted that Wasco General Oil, if sprayed on defendant's onion crop, as defendant sprayed it * * * would not harm the onions that had not emerged from the soil, * * * " are merely an instruction by the court to the effect that as a matter of law appellant did warrant what the effect of the oil would be under certain circumstances and that respondent did apply the oil within the scope of appellant's warranty as to *what the effect of the oil would be* under those circumstances. The words of the sentence, "plaintiff * * * warranted that Wasco General Oil * * * would not harm the onions that had not emerged from the soil, * * *" are an instruction that appellant made an express affirmation of fact relative to the effect of the oil, to-wit, that the oil, " * * * would not harm the onions that had not emerged from the soil * * *."

2. If it is assumed for purpose of argument that appellant's interpretation of the instruction is correct, the instruction, nevertheless, did not prejudice appellant. The admitted facts of the case are that Dr. Stark told respondent that Wasco General Oil would not

hurt the onions that were beneath the surface of the ground if applied at a rate of fifty gallons per acre, *supra* pp. 5-6, 9. All of the evidence in the case is to the effect that respondent did apply the oil at less than the rate of fifty gallons per acre, *supra* p. 9. It was, therefore, within the province of the court to instruct the jury that as a matter of law appellant warranted that Wasco General Oil would not hurt the onions that were beneath the surface of the ground, and that respondent applied the oil within the scope of that warranty. The language that the court used in so instructing the jury could not possibly prejudice the appellant. The issue before the jury was whether or not Wasco General Oil did destroy onions beneath the surface of the ground and not the theory on which appellant would be liable if it did.

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